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Presenter
Presentation Notes
This presentation outlines the results of a 2019-2020 historic preservation survey of historic buildings in the original townsite of Cortez, Montezuma County, Colorado. The survey was conducted by Woods Canyon Archaeological Consultants under a History Colorado grant to the City of Cortez. Part of the grant requirement is to conduct a public meeting to provide the results of the survey, but with current restrictions on public gatherings, this presentation will provide the public outreach and be made available through the city’s website.  




INTRODUCTION 
Sixth in a series of intensive level surveys of buildings in the original Cortez town plat 

Selective survey of 22 potential historic properties South of Main Street and along 1st Street within 
the original Cortez town plat 

CITY OF CORTEZ 2 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
This survey is the sixth in a series of surveys which have been conducted in Cortez. It is a selective survey of potentially historic properties along 1st Street and the blocks between Main and 1st Street including Maple, Beech, Chestnut, Linden, Market and Ash streets within the original Cortez town plat.  It is a selective survey because properties which were less than 50 years old and those who have been significantly altered were excluded from the survey
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PROJECT DESCRIPTION  
Intensive level architectural surveys 
1st Street between 400 West and 250 East 
Maple, Beech, Chestnut, Linden, Market and Ash Streets between Main and 1st Street 
Plus 345 West Main Street  
Mixed commercial and residential properties 

• CITY OF CORTEZ SOUTH SIDE OF MAIN STREET EAST OF MARKET STREET CA. 1890  
LIVERY STABLE IS ON CURRENT SITE OF SEARS (PHOTO COURTESY FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF CORTEZ) 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
22 properties were selected for intensive level surveys, with 10 properties on 1st Street and another 11 along the cross streets between Main and 1st Street.  345 West Main Street was also selected for survey to complete the previous study of the South side of Main Street. The properties were a mix of commercial and residential properties, in an area which buffers the commercial downtown district and residential neighborhoods to the south.  




SURVEY AREA 
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SURVEY AREA CLOSEUP 
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PROPERTIES 

ADDRESS HISTORIC PROPERTY NAME CONSTRUCTION DATE 

15 East 1st Street Arthur C & Celia Kittell Commercial Building 1926 

22 East 1st Street Tschop Blacksmith Commercial Building 1928 

30 West 1st Street Seventh Day Adventist Church of Cortez 1952 

207 East 1st Street William J & Clara Blatchford House 1889 

35 West 1st Street Mountain States Telephone Company Central Office Building 1954 

120 South Linden Street First Assembly of God Church of Cortez 1957 

321 West 1st Street Beverley & Althea Haley House 1940 

219 East 1st Street Oren S & Gifford H Pruner House 1930 

25 South Beech Street Nathaniel E Carpenter Barbershop 1918 

35 South Beech Street Cortez Post Office Building 1959 

35 South Chestnut Street Montgomery Ward Department Store 1958 

CITY OF CORTEZ 6 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
This slide and the next slide outline the specific properties that were selected for this survey, with their historically associated name and construction date




PROPERTIES (continued) 

ADDRESS HISTORIC PROPERTY NAME CONSTRUCTION DATE 

25 South Elm Street T.J. & Dorothy Roseberry House 1920/1945 

27 South Elm Street W.A. & Aristeen Cowling House 1920/1945 

29 South Elm Street Aristeen Cowling Optometry Office and Residence 1920/1945 

345 West Main Street Taylors Food Market 1962 

7 West 1st Street George & Willie McEwen House 1922/1947 

33 South Maple Street The Cortez Sentinel Newspaper Building 1920/1946 

41 South Maple Street George & Edward Winbourn House 1909 

23 South Market Street Walkers Incorporated Commercial Building 1936 

33 South Market Street Charles Powers House 1888 

122 East 1st Street Sturtevant Apartment Building 1940 

1 West 1st Street Hiram & Harriett McEwen House 1907 

CITY OF CORTEZ 7 
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• Cortez Historic Preservation Board identifies properties in the survey area which are possibly historically significant  
• Review previous work in the area 

• Phase I through Phase V surveys  
• 1995 Preservation Partnership Study and 1981 Planning Study  

• Meeting with City of Cortez Historic Preservation Board, City of Cortez representatives, History Colorado 
representatives  

• Conduct a public meeting with notices to property owners 
• Conduct research at the Montezuma County Recorder and Assessor’s office for ownership history and historic tax 

assessments 
• Create an intensive level survey for each of 22 properties 

• Describe the current building according to the Field Guide to Colorado’s Historic Architecture and Engineering Guide  
• Identify and describe any changes or additions 
• Chronologically describe the ownership of the property and research the significance of owners   
• Evaluate the property for historic integrity and significance 
• Digitally photograph each façade and outbuilding 
• Create GIS map and site plans to visually describe the property and location 
• Complete OAHP Form 1403 on each property 
 

 

   

  

METHODOLOGY 

CITY OF CORTEZ 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
This slide outlines the survey methodology. The first step was the Cortez Historic Preservation Board selecting properties within the survey area that they identified as being potentially historically significant. Woods Canyon reviewed the previous work in Cortez, met with representatives of the preservation board, the City of Cortez and History Colorado to kick off the survey. The preservation board and Woods Canyon also conducted a public meeting and gave notice of the survey to property owners. Woods Canyon then conducted research and created the intensive level surveys. The final bullet  contains a list of all the elements of that documentation and evaluation.




CULTURAL RESOURCES EVALUATION 
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• Cultural resource evaluations of significance are based on historic contexts using property types or 
groups of resources having similar physical or associative characteristics 

• Building types such as bungalow or false-front commercial 
• Building styles such as Victorian or Modern 

• Cortez Historic Contexts 
• Early settlement and Euro-American Contact: 400 A.D.—1886 
• Founding and Early Development of Cortez: 1886—1904 
• Agriculture, Water and Prosperity: 1904—1920 
• The Automobile, Mobility and Tourism: 1920—1945 
• Vaulting into the Modern Age: 1945—1970 
• Commercial Development of Main Street between 1900 and 1970  

• Each property is evaluated for eligibility for the National Register of Historic Places, the Colorado 
State Register of Historic Properties, the Cortez City Register of Historic Sites, Structures and 
Districts and if the property would be contributing to a National Register of Historic Places Historic 
District  

 
CITY OF CORTEZ 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The quality of significance in American history, architecture, archeology, engineering, and culture is present in districts, sites, buildings, structures, and objects that possess integrity of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association. They are associated with events or broad patterns of our history, with the lives of persons significant in our past or embody the distinctive characteristics of a type, period or method of construction or are the work of a master or have high artistic values. Archaeological sites can also have significance if they have or may be likely to yield information important to prehistory or history
Cortez has six historic contextual periods which are listed on this slide
Each property is evaluated for eligibility for the National Register of Historic Places, the Colorado State Register of Historic Properties, the Cortez City Register of Historic Sites, Structures and Districts and if the property would be contributing to a National Register of Historic Places Historic District




EVALUATION 
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• Properties can be “eligible” “not eligible” or “need more information” 
• Properties would still require an application and approval for inclusion on any register  
  

CITY OF CORTEZ 

Eligible 

Need more information 

Not Eligible 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Each property was evaluated for eligibility. They were “eligible” “not eligible” or “need more information” The following colors indicate evaluations for each register or contributing status. IF a property is marked “need more information” further study would be required to determine eligibility. That is common on additions or modification dates and whether they were within the historic period  
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• The National Register of Historic Places is the official list of the Nation's historic places worthy of 
preservation. Authorized by the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, the National Park Service's 
National Register of Historic Places is part of a national program to coordinate and support public and 
private efforts to identify, evaluate, and protect America's historic and archeological resources.  

• What the National Park Service provides: 
• Review nominations that Americans believe are worthy of preservation submitted by states, tribes, and other federal agencies 

and list eligible properties in the National Register 
• Offer guidance on evaluating, documenting, and listing different types of historic places through the National Register Bulletin 

series and other publications  
• Help qualified historic properties receive preservation benefits and incentives  

National Register of Historic Places 

CITY OF CORTEZ 
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• The Colorado State Register formally recognizes properties possessing a documented level of significance 
and that contribute to the understanding and appreciation of the history or prehistory of a community, the 
state, or the nation. 

• By honoring such important sites, the Colorado State Register provides: 
• Formal recognition of a property’s importance to the history of the community and the state of Colorado. 
• A body of information for local community planning, tourist promotion, neighborhood revitalization. 
• A sense of community history and local pride. 
• Eligibility to compete for grants from Colorado’s State Historical Fund.  These grants may be used for acquisition and 

development, education, and survey and planning projects. 
• Eligibility to apply for state tax credits for restoration, rehabilitation, or preservation of Colorado State Register properties. 
• Limited protection from state agency actions that would affect the property.  Agencies must solicit the comments of History 

Colorado to assure that Colorado State Register properties are given consideration in the state planning process. 

• There are no restrictions imposed by History Colorado  as to what private property owners may or may not 
do with their property.  Private property owners may alter or demolish a listed property subject only to 
applicable local government regulations and permitting procedures.  

Colorado State Register of Historic Properties 

CITY OF CORTEZ 
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• The City of Cortez maintains a local register of historic places (LHS) as part of the City’s historic 
preservation efforts. The rules for the local register are found in section 6.19 of the Cortez Land Use Code. 
The local register requires that a resource must be at least 50 years old and meet at least one of the 
criteria for architectural, social, or geographic/environmental significance to be considered for listing. As 
with the National Register, Cortez does have an exception to the age requirement if a property has 
exceptional significance under one or more of the City’s register criteria. The significance criteria, one of 
which must be fulfilled, are:  

• Architectural  
• Exemplifies specific elements of an architectural style or period  
• Example of the work of an architect or builder who is recognized for expertise nationally, state-wide, regionally, or locally  
• Demonstrates superior craftsmanship or high artistic value  
• Represents an innovation in construction, materials or design  
• Represents a built environment of a group of people in an era of history  
• Pattern or grouping of elements representing at least one of the above criteria  
• Is a significant historic remodel  

• Social  
• Site of historic event that had an effect upon society  
• Exemplifies cultural, political, economic, or social heritage of the community  
• Association with a notable person or the work of a notable person  

 
 

Cortez City Register of Historic Sites, Structures and Districts 

CITY OF CORTEZ 
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Presenter
Presentation Notes
Montezuma County Historical Society photograph courtesy of Patricia Lacey




219 EAST 1ST STREET 

• Constructed circa 1922 by Peter Guillet for his 
daughter Mary Ilene and her husband veterinarian 
Oren S Pruner on the back of their lot  

• Oren’s brother Gifford also lived in the house and 
was the primary resident from the early 1930s  

• Owned by the Rowley and Kenyon families 

• Changed from residential to commercial in 1965 
when purchased by Robert Parga who operated 
NUCLA Investment Company in the former 
residence 
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207 EAST 1ST STREET 

• Constructed in 1889 by William J and Clara Blatchford 

• One of the oldest residences in Cortez 

• Original main floor windows, exterior siding, porch 
with decorative Victorian details 

• Purchased in 1903 by Cortez businessman and civic 
leader Pete Guillet who lived in the house into the 
1930s 

• Late Victorian style  

 

 

 
CITY OF CORTEZ 16 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Schwindt, V., Weeth, J., & Davidson, D. (2011). Cortez. Charleston, SC: Arcadia Pub. p. 125



122 EAST 1ST STREET 

• Constructed in 1940 by Clark Reid Hickman  

• Sold to Ira and Edah Sturtevant in 1943 and known 
as the Sturtevant Apartments 

• Mediterranean Revival style with stucco over frame 
construction, pent roof, entry hoods  

• Largest and earliest historic apartment building in 
Cortez  
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Montezuma County Tax Assessor photograph 



22 EAST 1ST STREET 

• West side of the building was constructed in 1928 to 
house the Paul Tschop blacksmith business 

• East side added circa 1968  

• Operated as a blacksmith shop until 1947 

• Four Corners Sheltered Workshop 1972-1975, 
Montezuma County Senior Center 1975-1984, 
Methodist Thrift Shop 1984-2002 

 

CITY OF CORTEZ 18 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Montezuma County Tax Assessor building sketch map



15 EAST 1ST STREET 

• Constructed in 1926 by Arthur Kittell 

• Owned between 1936 and 1964 by Mary McMillan 
Ince and her children, including Willie Ince McEwen 

• Located on the same site as a wooden horse barn 
owned by the 1880s Robert Smith Merchandise 
Company which was located on the same block  

• Concrete block construction 

• Owned by Donald & Carol Tullis since 1973 
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Presenter
Presentation Notes
Montezuma County Tax Assessor photograph. 
The 1919 Sanborn Fire Insurance Map shows a wood frame “private” building with almost the identical dimensions of the current building, minus the 1980 side addition. One resident of Cortez remembers the building as a horse barn.1 The building was located on the east side of the same lot as the historic 1888 McMillan Building which later became the Robert R. “Bob” Smith Merchandise Company.2 The lot where the frame building was located was purchased by Arthur C. Kittell in 1923 from the Montezuma Valley National Bank of Cortez. It appears that Arthur Kittell lost the property to back taxes. In 1936, the bank redeemed Montezuma County tax liens and in July of 1936, quit claimed the property to the John McMillan, Lillie McMillan and Mary Ince. Between the 1936 purchase and final sale to Hubert Sowle in 1964, this property was owned by Mary Ince’s children and their spouses, as well as a grandson Ernest McEwen after Willie McEwen’s death in 1957. Mary’s second oldest daughter was Wilma “Willie” Ince, born in 1895. In 1913, Wilma “Willie” Ince married neighbor George McEwen. You might be hearing a recurring theme throughout this study—many of the properties were owned by Willie and George McEwen. Mary’s third child Sam Ince, was born in 1898. Her youngest daughter Nettie Ince was born in 1907 and married Stanley Talcott in 1923.
In April of 1964, Hubert “Hugh” Sowle and his wife Ernestine “Leone” Sowle, purchased the property and operated Southwest Motors. In December of 1973, Hugh Sowle sold the property to Donald K. and Carol Ann Tullis, who currently own the property and operate Tullis Chiropractic at 15 East 1st Street.




1 WEST 1ST STREET 

• Constructed by Hyrum and Harriett McEwen in 1907 

• Stucco over frame construction 

• Altered in 1960 and 1973 

• Owned by the McEwen family until 1966 

• Changed from residential to commercial in 1979 
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Presentation Notes
Montezuma County tax assessor photograph and Sanborn Map of Montezuma Telephone Exchange Building on First Street between Chestnut Street and Market Street 1919 Sanborn Fire Insurance Map Collection, 1919 Map of Cortez, CO. Map Library, University Libraries, University of Colorado at Boulder 
The Hyrum & Harriett McEwen House was constructed in 1907. Hyrum (also spelled Hiram) McEwen purchased the property in 1904 and built the house probably prior to 1907.2 Hyrum McEwen was the twelfth and last child born to Church of Latter-day Saints polygamist Matthew McEwen Sr. in 1859 in Beaver, Utah. In 1882, Hyrum married Harriett Sophia Williams, also born in Iron County, Utah in 1864. Hyrum and Harriett moved to Cortez in the late 1880s or early 1890s, making them some of the earliest area settlers.3 Hyrum began farming, and later ran a livery business on the southeast corner of Main Street and Market Street in Cortez.4 According to June Head, Montezuma County Historical Society, Hyrum McEwen was also a gambler, part of a group of gamblers who played poker from Mancos, Rico, Dolores and Cortez who “continued to play until somebody went broke.
 
By the probable construction date of the residence, Hyrum and Harriett had seven children, including three daughters under 10 years of age.6 Hyrum transferred deed title completely to Harriett in February 1913 and one year later they divorced.7 On June 19, 1916 in Durango, Colorado, Hyrum married Florence Moser who was born in 1869 in Missouri.8 Harriett McEwen died in Cortez, Colorado on November 12, 1918 during the Spanish influenza epidemic at age 48. It appears the younger children resided in the house at 1 West 1st Street, at least initially, but left before 1920. No addresses were identified in the 1920 census, but two of the three youngest daughters were already married and the youngest, Virginia was living with the oldest Inez, who married Stephen “Sam” Walker in 1919.9
The house at 1 West 1st Street was adjudicated as a part of Hyrum’s estate and the property and house were divided between Hyrum’s second wife Florence (who received ½ of his estate), five children (George McEwen, Ila Kermode, Inez Walker, Virginia McEwen, Alta McEwen Hinton and one grandchild Faith McEwen).
The children eventually sued to get Florence off the title and out of the inheritance--it sounded quite angry even in the historical documents. There is little evidence that any of the family members resided in the house after 1920. Eventually George McEwen’s wife Willie Ince McEwen owned the house. She owned several properties along 1st Street in her name only, but which seem to have actually been purchased by George McEwen or jointly owned. George McEwen was the oldest son of Harriett and Hyrum McEwen and was a prominent Cortez gambler and businessman in his own right. The “Love on a Hanger” building on Main Street is historically the George McEwen Building and was won in a poker game in Rico. The Main Street building was moved by train and freight wagon to Cortez after McEwen won it. 10 George McEwen built the first movie theater in Cortez in 1911.11 After Willie McEwen’s murder in 1957, the deed transferred to her husband George McEwen and son Ernest “Beanie” McEwen. Ernest and his wife Maxine owned the property until 1966.




7 WEST 1ST STREET 

• Constructed in the 1920s in McPhee, Colorado for 
the New Mexico Lumber Company as employee 
housing 

• Moved to Cortez circa 1949 by George McEwen 

• Stucco over frame construction 

• Used as an optometry office, veteran’s club, UPS 
store and current tanning salon 

• Owned by the McEwen family until 1966 

 

 

CITY OF CORTEZ 21 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Montezuma County tax assessor photograph



30 WEST 1ST STREET 

• Constructed circa 1952 by the Seventh Day Adventist 
Church congregation on land donated by Thomas 
and Ettie Jordan 

• Initially a two room building  

• The Seventh Day Adventist Church moved to their 
current meeting house in 1959 and sold the building 
to Mel and Blonn Sarpy, who operated a collection 
agency until 1984 

• Eastern wing added in 1986 by Bob Reser, who 
operated the Cortez Investment Company 

 

 
CITY OF CORTEZ 22 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Montezuma County tax assessor photograph
 
This building was constructed on the property of Thomas and Etta “Ettie” M Jordan, long-time residents who moved to Cortez, Colorado circa 1909. The house was formally deeded to Thomas and Ettie Jordan on June 14, 1923 from William H. Smail, a Cortez barber. In the 1930 census, Etta and her youngest daughter were school teachers.3 Thomas Jordan died in 1936 and Ettie died in 1959, both in Cortez. In 1942, Ettie Jordan’s daughter Margaret Jordan deeded her property to the Seventh Day Adventist Church of Colorado. The congregation initially met in her house for several years, then constructed a church on the west side of the lot circa 1952. The Seventh Day Adventist Church met in the two room building which is the western wing of the building at 30 West 1st Street until 1959, when they moved to the basement of their new (and still current) Mediterranean Revival style church building at 540 West 4th Street.
In 1959, the building was purchased by Mel B. & Blonn Sarpy, who were actively purchasing property in Cortez at that time. Montezuma County assessment records identify the business as Cortez Collectors, which was a collection agency in Cortez. 
In 1984, the building was sold to Cortez Investment Company, owned by Robert “Bob” Reser, who operated Reser Collection Agency.6 James R “Robert” Reser was born in 1927 in Buffalo Dall, Missouri, served in the Navy during World War II, married Donna Rae Janssen, and died in Cortez, Colorado in 1994. In 1984, the Cortez Investment Company created the second (eastern) wing of the building which mirrors the original building. 
In 1992, Cortez Investment Company sold the property to Steven Dibsie, who further sold the property to the current owner, Janet Gilbert in 1998.




35 WEST 1ST STREET 

• Constructed in 1954 by Mountain States Telephone 
and Telegraph Company as a central office and 
microwave tower facility  

• Located on the historic location of the Montezuma 
Telephone Company who operated a telephone 
exchange from 1905 to 1929 

• Microwave Type E tower connecting Goodman Point 
and Madden 

• Largely unchanged from initial construction 
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AT&T Long-Lines Website photograph of 35 West 1st Street circa 2002 and Sanborn Map of Montezuma Telephone Exchange Building on First Street between Chestnut Street and Market Street 1919 Sanborn Fire Insurance Map Collection, 1919 Map of Cortez, CO. Map Library, University Libraries, University of Colorado at Boulder 

PhotographThis parcel is the historical location of the Montezuma Telephone Company and later the Montezuma County Telephone Company. The Montezuma Telephone Company was organized in 1905 when a telephone line was installed from Mancos to Cortez.1 In 1908 the assets were sold to the newly organized Montezuma County Telephone Company, with prominent local Cortez businessman Peter T. Guillet as president.2 By 1919, the company had constructed a telephone exchange in the same location as the current 1954 building.
The local telephone company went bankrupt and in February of 1929, Mountain States Telephone & Telegraph Company purchased the company, its land and equipment, including rights-of-way and telephone poles. The Mountain States Telephone & Telegraph Company wasn’t recognized as a Colorado Corporation until almost fifteen years later on August 7, 1943. The Mountain States Telephone & Telegraph Company was one of the subsidiaries of the American Telephone & Telegraph (AT&T) Corporation. It operated between 1911 and 1984, when AT&T was required by anti-trust regulators to divest its regional Bell operating companies. In 1984, the newly independent company was named U.S. West, and operated until merging with Qwest Communications International, Inc.in 2000. Qwest was acquired in 2011 by Centurylink Corporation.3 
The current building dates from 1954 and by 1957 would have included the both the retail office, central telephone facility and garage building located at 108 South Chestnut Street. Early telephone service was conducted entirely by wire until after World War II, when new technologies developed during the war were introduced more widely for civilian uses.4 The AT&T Corporation developed microwave transmission, including analog and later digital transmission to replace older wires. According to the AT&T Long Lines website, the Cortez site was a Mountain Bell central office with a Long Lines point-to-point microwave facility Type E tower that connected Goodman Point (and Blanding and Aneth) to the west and Madden to the east.5 Microwave communications were used until the 1980s when satellite and fiber optic technologies became more cost effective.




321 WEST 1ST STREET 

• Constructed in 1940 by Beverly “B.F.” and Althea 
Haley 

• Cross gable end added in 1950 

• B.F. served in World War I, worked initially as a 
farmer and worked for Slavens Hardware. Althea was 
a registered nurse who worked for Montezuma 
County social services 

• Haley family owned the house until 1981 when they 
sold it to Maurine McNeill 
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Montezuma County Tax Assessor
Ernest L Maynes purchased lots 1-2 of Block 42 from the family of Anna Boyle on August 8, 1932 resided in the nearby 1917 house located on lots 3-4 at 115 South Linden Street. In 1939 Ernest came to an agreement to sell the land to Beverley and Althea Haley, who moved to Cortez and built the original front gabled section on the west in 1940. Ernest formally transferred ownership to the Haley family in November 1943. In the 1930 and 1940 censuses as well as his 1942 World War II draft registration card, Ernest was a mail carrier. The Haley family added the side gabled section on the east in 1950.
 The Haley family owned and resided in the house until 1981. B.F., as Beverly was known, was born in 1896 in Kosse, Texas. After serving in Company C, 313 Field Signal Battalion, 88th Division during World War I, he married Althea Ethel Kidder on September 1, 1920 in Guyman, Oklahoma.89In early 1940, Beverley was living in Kansas. According to his son Chuck, the family moved to Cortez that same year.1011Initially B.F. worked as a farmer, but according to Patricia Lacey, Montezuma County Historic Preservation Board, he later worked for Slavens Hardware Store. Althea was a registered nurse and worked for Montezuma County social services. B.F. and Althea had three children Charles (Chuck), Paul, and Maurine.12In 1981, the house was sold to Maurine McNeill and quit claimed to Frank McNeill and Constance Weese.




33 SOUTH MAPLE STREET 

• Constructed in 1920 at 31 West Main Street as the 
Cortez Sentinal Newspaper Building 

• Purchased in 1941 by Charles Bowers and moved in 
1946 to its current location 

• Wayne and Mary Lou Yarborough operated the 
Chicken Hut Restaurant in the building 

• Purchased in 1987 by Boyd Hall who operates Hall’s 
Used Furniture  
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Montezuma County Historical Society photograph courtesy of Patricia Lacey
This building was moved into its current location in 1946 by property owner Charles “Charlie” Bowers, who rented the building to Wayne Yarborough and Mary Lou Pruner Yarborough who operated the Chicken Hut Restaurant in the building.2 In 1941, Charles (Charlie) Bowers purchased the property from Nannie Poffenberger Charlie Bowers had been operating a gas station, grocery store and auto cottage courts around the corner at 345 West Main Street since 1932. In 1941, Charles Bowers sold his property on Main Street and purchased this lot and moved into the residence at 25 South Maple Street. Charles Bowers lived next door to this building in an 1897 residence located at 25 South Maple Street. In 1946, Charles Bowers purchased the former Cortez Sentinal Newspaper Building from newspaper publisher Harlan H. Beaber, and had Amos Frazier move the building.3 In 1952, Charles sold the property to Werner Helms, who sold it two years later to Wilbur and Cecilia Edmonson. Cecilia later married James Bridgewater. She owned the property until 1972, when she sold it to Roy & Irene McCall. In 1981, Roy McCall sold the property to Jim and Pat Cattles who sold it to the current owner Boyd Hall in 1987. Boyd Hall currently operates Hall’s Used Furniture in the building.




41 SOUTH MAPLE STREET 

• Constructed in 1909 by George and Edward 
Winbourn 

• Lee Winbourn resided in the house until 1941 

• Leslie and Edah Peterson purchased the house in 
1994 and sold it to Henry “Fat” and Mary T. Smith in 
1955 

• Liillian Smith and Buck Stratton lived in the house 
from 1955 to 1981 
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Montezuma County Tax Assessor photograph
Montezuma County Assessor identifies this house as constructed in 1909. That matches the purchase of the parcel by George and Edward Winbourn from Mary E. Matthews. George and Edward Winbourn were the children of Stephen Douglas Winbourn and Mary Jane Elizabeth Baldridge Winbourn. Stephen Winbourn was born in North Carolina in 1833, but was living in Western Colorado by the 1880 census.1 Stephen died in Cortez, Colorado in 1908, leaving Mary Jane a widow until her death in Cortez in 1940.Other siblings of George and Edward also owned the property, including Richard Lewis Winbourn and Albert Lee “Lee” Winbourn, who was the only resident in the 1940 census. Albert Lee Winbourn was born in 1877 in Colorado and died in Cortez in 1941. It appears that Lee did not marry, and worked as a stocksman for many years based on directories and census data. Richard Lewis Winbourn was born in Pueblo, Colorado in 1875 and died in Moab, Utah in 1934. In 1944, three years after Albert Winbourn’s death, E.H. Fox sued all of the previous owners to clear the title, although there is not a purchase document/title deed related to that extant in the Montezuma County recorder’s office. It is unclear if E.H. Fox lived in the house, as there are no documents which directly identify him/her living in the house or residing in Cortez.
The title must have been unclear, as a 1944 court decision was granted to formally transfer the title from all of the previous owners to Leslie R. & Edah Peterson, who owned the property until 1955. Leslie “Bill” Peterson was born circa 1899 in Illinois and moved to Cortez after 1935, lived outside of town and worked as a contractor and at a local vanadium mine.2 3 Edah Sturtevant married Leslie Peterson circa 1944. In 1955, they sold the property to Mary Temperance and Henry W. Smith. The Peterson’s owned the apartment complex at 122 East 1st Street (5MT.23389) and according to local historical documents, the Cortez Lumber and Hardware Store.4 
According to Montezuma County Historical Society Historian, June Head, Henry Walter “Fat” Smith moved into town from the Lewis area where he had been a farmer. His daughter Lillian married Buck Stratton and they lived in the house at 41 South Maple Street. Stratton was known for the Stratton Addition of real estate development in Cortez.5 The Smiths owned the property until 1981, when it was sold to Colleen K. Maxon who sold it to Boyd & Connie Hall in 1988.6 Boyd and Connie Hall owned the property directly to the north of this parcel at 25 & 33 South Maple Street. In 1993, the Halls sold the property to Dennis & Terry Retherford, who owned it until 2007. In 2007 the Retherfords sold the property to La Wana Dodson, who sold it less than nine months later to its current owner Larry Leighton. Larry Leighton is a chiropractor and brother of Greg and Glenn Leighton. They are the three sons of Robert Leighton and are affiliated with the Notah Dineh property at 345 West Main Street, Cortez.





120 SOUTH LINDEN STREET 

• Constructed in 1957 by the First Assembly of God 
Church  

• The Gladys Guillet Hart house was added as the 
parsonage to the property in 1982 

• Remodeled in 1986 to add the fellowship hall and 
add gabled roof structure 

• Interior remodeled again in 2019 
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Montezuma County Tax Assessor photograph
The First Assembly of God Church of Cortez was formed in 1939 and by the 1940s was located in a Spanish style building on Main Street and Pinon Drive in Cortez. In 1953, the congregation purchased the Lindon and 1st Street parcel. In 1956 the congregation formally incorporated in the State of Colorado as it began construction of the building at 120 South Linden Street. The main building was constructed in 1957. The Gladys G. Hart residence located at 126 South Linden Street was added as a parsonage in 1982. Gladys Guillet Hart was the daughter of Herm Guillet, a successful businessman and civic leader in Montezuma County between 1890 and the 1930s. She married Charlie Hart, a local fireman. Their daughter Herma J. Watson deeded the property to the First Assembly of God Church of Cortez. 




25 SOUTH ELM STREET 

• Constructed in 1920 by the New Mexico Lumber 
Company in McPhee, Colorado as employee housing 

• Moved to Cortez in 1945 by L.L. Walters and sold to 
T.J. and Dorothy Roseberry 

• T.J. operated Roseberry Plumbing across the street 
between 1959 and 1977 

• The commercial addition on the front was completed 
in 1948 and LoRay Photography operated in the 
addition by the Leight (or Leicht) family between 
1948 and 1953 
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This house, as well as the two structures to the south are identified as McPhee, Colorado employee houses for the New Mexico Lumber Company, according to the McPhee HABS study CO-42.1 The original construction date, as well as the exact McPhee location are not identified, although the Montezuma County Assessor identifies the original construction date as 1920. 
 
L.L. Walters purchased six lots on this block of Elm Street between Main Street and 1st Street in August of 1944. On January 8, 1946 he sold lots 19-20 where this house is located to Thomas J. “T.J.” and Dorothy Roseberry. In 1930, the family was living in Montrose, Colorado where T.J. was a plumbing apprentice and his father was a farm laborer.4 In 1935, T.J. married Dorothy Dixon and lived in several locations including Orchard Mesa, Montrose, and Grand Junction before moving to Cortez in 1946. The Roseberry’s built and operated Roseberry Plumbing across Elm Street at 140 West 1st Street between 1959 and 1977. By the late 1960s, the Montezuma County assessor has T. J. Roseberry’s address as 825 Edith Street in Cortez in early tax assessment documents, and a renter was occupying the residential portion of the building. 
 
According to June Head, Montezuma County Historian, this was the location of the Lo Ray Studio, a photography studio in the 1940s and 1950s. June says “They took everybody’s picture.”5 The studio was operated by the Leight (or Leicht family) from 1948 through at least 1953. The studio was named for their daughter LoRay, according to DeEtta Johnson of the Montezuma County Historical Society.




27 SOUTH ELM STREET 

• Constructed in 1920 by the New Mexico Lumber 
Company in McPhee, Colorado as employee housing 

• Moved to Cortez in 1945 by L.L. Walters and sold to 
William A and Aristeen Cowling 

• William and Aristeen farmed in Dove Creek before 
1920 and Aristeen operated an optometry practice 
there in 1941 

• In 1945, Aristeen moved her practice to 29 South Elm 
Street in Cortez and used this house as a rental unit  
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This house, as well as the structures to the north and south are identified as McPhee, Colorado employee houses for the New Mexico Lumber Company, according to the McPhee HABS study CO-42.1 The original construction date, as well as the exact McPhee location are not identified, although the Montezuma County Assessor identifies the original construction date as 1920. 
In 1945, L.L. Walters sold lots 21-22 where this house is located to William A and Aristeen Cowling, who owned the properties until 1972. Aristeen B Butler was born January 13, 1880 in Pennsylvania and married William A. Cowling in Pennsylvania in 1905. William was five years her senior and was also born in Pennsylvania. The 1907 Denver City Directory identifies that the Cowlings had already moved to Denver. William worked as a billing manager for an electric parts company in Denver, Colorado in the 1910 census. By 1920, William and Aristeen were living on a farm that William had homesteaded in Dove Creek, Colorado and were raising grain. In 1941, Aristeen opened an optometry practice in Dove Creek, Colorado. In 1945, William and Aristeen purchased these properties and Aristeen moved her practice to Cortez. They lived at and operated the Optometry practice at 29 South Elm Street. The Cowlings also rented apartments at 27 South Elm Street and the basement of 29 South Elm Street, including 1947 27 South Elm residents William “Bill” and June Head (Montezuma County Historian) and Walter and Bobbie Ertel who ran the Ertel Funeral Home (NRIS #95001248) on nearby Market Street in Cortez. Aristeen appears to have retired from her practice in the early 1960s and retired to Arizona. 
Aristeen Cowling owned both residences at 27 and 29 South Elm Street, as well as the smaller slab-on-grade house in the rear, and sold all three properties as one parcel to Donald D & Alta Fay Dixon in 1972.




29 SOUTH ELM STREET 

• Constructed in 1920 by the New Mexico Lumber 
Company in McPhee, Colorado as employee housing 

• Moved to Cortez in 1945 by L.L. Walters and sold to 
William A and Aristeen Cowling 

• William and Aristeen farmed in Dove Creek before 
1920 and Aristeen operated an optometry practice 
there in 1941 

• In 1945, Aristeen moved her practice and residence 
to 29 South Elm Street in Cortez 
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35 SOUTH CHESTNUT STREET 

• Constructed in 1958 by Russell and Patsy Brown  

• The original Montgomery Ward department store 
with a garage and tire shop on the north side 

• Constructed on the north side of the Woodmen of 
the World Building which also served as the Elks 
lodge which was demolished in 1981 

• Purchased by Montezuma County in 1988 which 
remodeled it and operated social services and later 
the Montezuma County Historical Society Museum  
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The Montgomery Ward Building was located on the north side of the Woodmen of the World (WOW) Fraternal Organization Hall, which was constructed in 1898. The site where the building was constructed in 1958 was owned by the descendants of Hyrum (also spelled Hiram) McEwen, who purchased the property prior to his death in Los Angeles, California in 1923.
The Woodmen of the World Building and the future site of the Montgomery Ward Building were part of Hyrum’s estate which was divided between Hyrum’s second wife Florence (who received ½ of his estate), five children (George McEwen, Ila Kermode, Inez Walker, Virginia McEwen, Alta McEwen Hinton and one grandchild Faith McEwen). George McEwen, the oldest son, may have inherited the Hall, and he operated a roller skating rink in the building.  
 
Russell D and Patsy Brown purchased the Woodmen of the World building from the McEwen family in 1958, probably in conjunction with the Elks Association who operated an Elks Lodge in the building. The Browns constructed the Montgomery Ward building at 35 South Chestnut Street in 1958. In 1988, Russell sold both the Montgomery Ward building and lot where the Woodmen of the World building had stood until 1981 to Montezuma County. Russell’s father Dwight edited the Montezuma Journal Newspaper as early as 1940 and after his death in 1949, Russell’s uncle Charles Dewey Brown edited the newspaper. Russell later worked with his uncle Charles “Dewey: Brown operating the Montezuma Journal Newspaper during the 1960s.
 
Montezuma County initially conducted social services in the building, but has subsequently leased the building to the Montezuma County Historical Society, which currently operates a museum at 35 South Chestnut Street.




23 SOUTH MARKET STREET 

• Constructed in 1936 by Steven “Sam” Walker who 
operated the Cortez Mercantile Company at 1 West 
Main Street 

• Likely used as an administrative office building 

• Sam Walker married Inez McEwen in August 1919 
and after Sam’s death in 1951, she deeded the 
building to her sister-in-law Willie McEwen 

• The McEwen family owned the building until 1971 
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This building sits on a parcel which was owned by John O Brown. He developed the Clifton Hotel, which was located at 20 West on the north side of Main Street. After the Clifton Hotel was burned in 1908, John O. Brown sold this parcel as he developed his new Brown Hotel at the intersection of Main and Washington Streets.
John O. Brown sold this property to Isaac Miller and his son John  Miller in November of 1908. The Millers owned the property until it was purchased in 1928 by Walkers Inc., owned by Steven “Sam” Walker and Inez McEwen Walker.
Sam Walker was born Jan 15, 1895 in Buckley, Illinois. He was living in Pueblo, CO with his family before 1910. His mother died in Cortez in 1914, so the family was probably living there already. In his World War I registration card, Sam was a bookkeeper at the Cortez Mercantile Company.  Sam married Inez McEwen in August 1919. Wife Inez McEwen was born in 1899 in Cortez to Hyrum and Harriet Sophia Williams McEwen, early settlers of Cortez. In 1930 they were living on East Main Street on block 7 and Sam was also a grocery manager. From 1940 census data and Sanborn maps, it appears that Sam and Inez Walker lived on this parcel in 1935, and possibly earlier. The 1919 Sanborn Map of this block shows a nearly square hipped roof building located on the west side of the lot, which was the likely location of their residence. Circa 1936, Sam Walker constructed this frame building, which may have been the location for administrative and bookkeeping for the Cortez Mercantile Company, where Sam was an employee.
Walker managed a retail grocery store in 1940 and his son also named Steven was a salesman at a retail grocery store. In his 1942 World War II draft card, Sam was running his own business, the Cortez Mercantile Company on Main and Market Street. According to the Images of Cortez, the company sold groceries, dry goods and hardware. Sam died in 1951 and was buried in Cortez. After his death, Inez sold the property to her sister-in-law Wilma “Willie” Ince McEwen, who owned the three city lots directly to the south of the current building. 
In 1971, Willie McEwen’s son Ernest sold the property to Jess W and Verna Griffen.





33 SOUTH MARKET STREET 

• Constructed by L.W. and Inez Chase circa 1888 

• R.J. Bryce added the north cross wing circa 1911 and 
a second on the south was added prior to 1945 

• Judge John Brumley owned the house from 1919 to 
1929; physician Dr. George Sprecher owned the 
house from 1929 to 1934; chiropractor Dr. Lonnie 
Hall owned the house from 1934 to 1945;  

• Willie and George McEwen owned and resided in the 
house from 1945 until Willie’s murder there in 1959 
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The Inez J. Chase House is one of the earliest extant houses in Cortez. There is little information on Inez or her husband, beyond the reference in Ira S. Freeman’s History of Montezuma County: “By 1890, a two story stone building had been built on Montezuma Avenue at the site of Mrs. Maude Bryce’s Home. Mrs. Chase was a resident at this time. Her husband owned the toll road to Durango and she taught. She was the first woman teacher in the Cortez school.”
In April of 1906 Inez J. Chase deeded the property to A.J. Smith and J.H. Brigham, which was likely a financial transaction, as those two were businessmen and bankers in Cortez, and may have been involved in the Cortez Land and Investment Company. In 1907, the Cortez Land and Investment Company deeded the property to Robert J. Bryce, who owned the property until 1915, when the title was deeded to the Frank Eldredge Investment Company. Robert J. Bryce was a rancher married to Rose L in the 1911-1912 Montezuma County Directory.2 It appears that Robert J Bryce lost the house to the bank in 1915. In 1919, John M. Brumley purchased the house, the same year he married his second wife Kathryn “Katie” Grace Miller Olsen. John Merritt Brumley was born October 16, 1878 in Johnson County, Texas. He had moved to Cortez prior to his 1904 marriage to Louisa C. Pyle.3 He worked as a farmer in Dolores, Colorado in the 1910 census.4 John Brumley had lost one leg above the knee and was working as a clerk for the District Court in Cortez in his 1917 World War I registration.5 In 1920, John Brumley was elected the County Judge of Montezuma County where he served until his death in 1938.6 7 John Brumley sold the house in 1929 to George Sprecher, who owned it until 1934. George Sprecher was a physician in Cortez in 1930.
In 1934, the house was purchased by Doctor (Chiropractor) Albert Lonnie Hall and his wife Mary. Albert was born in 1879 in Virginia, and lived in southern Colorado from early in the century until his death in 1945. After his death, his heirs sold the house to Wilma “Willie” McEwen. George and Wilma owned extensive property in the area, including the Woodmen of the World Hall located on South Chestnut Street, where he operated a roller skating rink as well as buildings on Main Street. George McEwen was a prominent Cortez gambler and businessman. George McEwen also built the first movie theater in Cortez in 1911.9 In 1957, George McEwen was severely beaten and Wilma murdered by an attacker in this house.10 In 1959, George transferred title to his son Ernest “Beanie” McEwen, who owned the property until 1971. In 1960, George McEwen died in Cortez, Colorado.





25 SOUTH BEECH STREET 

• Constructed in 1912 by Judge Herschel Hogg, who 
sold it circa 1915 to Nathanel Carpenter 

• Initially contained a commercial storefront and rear 
residence for Judge Hogg, but used as a residence by 
the Carpenter family until 1958 

• Purchased by Terenzio and Anna Gai who sold it to 
David and Glenda Allen in 1973 

• David remodeled the building in 1973, divided the 
commercial space and operated a barber shop in the 
space  
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The Nathaniel E Carpenter Residence was constructed while the property was owned by Herschel Millard Hogg, who was born in 1852 in Youngstown, Ohio. Because Herschel Hogg owned the building less than five years, and likely had a circa 1915 contract to sell it to Nathaniel Carpenter less than two years after its estimated construction date, the building is more properly named for Nathaniel Carpenter. In the 1910 census, Herschel Hogg was located in Telluride, CO., 75 miles north of Cortez, but was listed as an attorney in Cortez in the 1911 Montezuma County directory.    He was already in Denver, CO in the 1920 census.
Based on the 1919 Sanborn Fire Insurance Map of lot 19, block 35, the building constructed by Herschel Hogg may have been intended both as a residence and for his law practice, with a concrete brick front section and a rear frame section. The building was identified as a residence by the 1919 map surveyor. 
Nathaniel Elliott “N.E.” Carpenter was born on Jul 26, 1885 in Evansville, Cook County, Illinois. He was living in Evanston, IL in 1901 but had moved to Cortez by the 1910 census. In 1913, Nathaniel married Clara Kelly in Michigan, although he listed his residence as Dolores, Colorado. In 1914 or 1915, Nathaniel and family moved in to the Hogg residence and commercial building at 25 South Beech Street. According to his daughter Margaret, the family used the commercial area as their front room. Nathaniel was a stocksman in the 1920 census and owned his own house. In 1930, he was a manager for a land company. In 1940, he was 54 years old and worked in farm management. Daughter Catharine was a school teacher. According to Montezuma County Historical Society notes for their walking tour. The N.E. Carpenter family owned the property and resided there until 1958, when they sold the property to Terenzio and Anna Gai.
The Gai family also owned the post office property at 35 South Beech Street. The Gai family rented the property to David Allen in 1973 and he established the Cortez Barber Shop. The Gai family formally sold the property to Glenda & David Allen in 1977. In 1977, David remodeled the property into the current form with two businesses located side-by-side and continued to operate the Cortez Barber Shop. The initial businesses located opposite the barber shop were a bridal shop run by Billie Atkinson and later a photography shop operated by Duane Neal. The family owned the property until 2016 when they sold it to the current owners Robert Smith and Amber Zickefoose.
Year: 1910; Census Place: Precinct 8, Montezuma, Colorado; Roll: T624_123; Page: 7B; Enumeration District: 102; Image: 85.
Margaret Carpenter Ptolemy note to Montezuma County Historical Society historian June Head dated Feb 2, 2005 in response to a request for information for the Cortez Historical Walking Tour. 
Based on Herschel Hogg already being in Denver in 1920 and Nathaniel identified in Cortez as a homeowner, there is a strong possibility that there is a real estate contract which was not found in the Montezuma County deed records which would have transferred the property from Hogg to Nathaniel Carpenter prior to 1920, with the Warranty Deed coming later.
Year: 1940; Census Place: Cortez, Montezuma, Colorado; Roll: T627_471; Page: 2A; Enumeration District: 42-3
Head, June interview with Glenda Allen, April 5, 2020 




35 SOUTH BEECH STREET 

• Constructed in 1959 by Terenzio and Anna Gai to 
serve as the Cortez Post Office building 

• Modern style building 

• Original except for south side access ramp and entry 

• Owned by the Gai family until 2008 
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In 1958, Terenzio and Anna Waldapurger Gai purchased the four lots on the southwest corner of Beech Street and 1st Street from long-time owner and barber Nathaniel E. Carpenter. In 1959 they constructed this building specifically to serve as the post office in Cortez, Colorado. 
 
According to June Head, Montezuma County Historical Society Historian: 
		T. and Anna Gai met in Colorado Springs at the Broadmoor Hotel. T. was a chef and Anna was a waitress. Anna was from Switzerland and T. was from Italy. T. worked in Cortez at the pool hall next to what is now Blondies Trophy Room restaurant at the northwest corner of Main and Beech Streets. Then he went into the Bean Business. It was a bean warehouse business in Yellowjacket (north of Cortez). The Gais also had the J.C. Penney building constructed in downtown Cortez in 1953. Their daughter Marge ran the Pippo’s Coffee Bar in the 1950s and 1960s.She was a local real estate and business maven. She named Pippo’s Coffee Bar at the corner of Chestnut and Main after her uncle Pippo from Switzerland. The Pippo’s Coffee Bar, now called Pippo’s Café, is still a popular downtown café. 
 
Terenzio Gai died in Yellow Jacket, Montezuma County, Colorado in 1967, and Anna Gai died there in 1972. Marge Gai transferred the property into the family trust. The Gai family also owned the barber shop property at 25 South Beech Street.
	The family owned the building until 2008, when it was sold to F & F Holdings.




345 WEST MAIN STREET 

• Constructed in 1962 by Raymond Taylor on the site 
of Charlie Bowers auto court, grocery store and gas 
station 

• Initially operated as Taylor Food Market and offered 
meat processing and cold storage 

• Raymond’s daughter Gloria and her husband Delmer 
Kent operated Kent’s Pharmacy on the east side of 
the building  

• Remodeled by Robert Leighton into its current form 
in the early 1990s 
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One of the first businesses located on this natural entry into Cortez at the junction of Highways 491 and 160 along Cortez Main Street was Charlie’s Auto Court (Charlie’s Auto Cottage Courts, a gasoline station and small tourist court boasting six cabins owned by Charlie Bowers and his family and constructed in the early 1930s. Bowers sold the property to the N.M. McGee in 1941. Raymond and Viola Taylor purchased the property and buildings in 1949. The Taylors incorporated as the Taylor Shopping Center Inc. in 1961. Raymond Taylor constructed the current building in 1962 and operated Taylors Food Market, a grocery store, meat processing, and cold storage. In the late 1960s, the building was significantly remodeled and became the Ben Franklin department store. Raymond Taylor’s daughter and son-in-law Delmer L Kent and Gloria Taylor Kent also operated Kent’s Pharmacy in the building from circa 1965 through the mid-1980s. Taylor Shopping Center, Inc. owned the property until Robert Leighton purchased the property in 1989.
Robert Leighton remodeled it into its current form in the early 1990s and Glenn and Gregg Leighton currently own the property incorporated as N-D Cortez LLC.  According to June Head, Montezuma County Historical Society: The Leighton family has been involved in operating the Notah Dineh Trading post since the early 1960s. Notah is the Navajo word for the Ute Indians and Dineh is the Navajo word used to describe the Navajo people. For several decades Notah Dineh has been a place where the Ute and Navajo come to trade their art work with the Leighton family. The Notah Dineh Trading Company and Museum provides a showcase for the exhibition of the artifacts of the Ute, Navajo, Hopi, and many other native cultures of the southwestern United States. The museum located downstairs provides the visitor with a showcase of the finest Native American art work with century old Navajo blankets.
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This survey completes the inventory of the area south of Main Street and along 1st Street within the original 
town plat as well as adding one other buildings on Main Street. In total, 22 buildings were included. Of the 22 

buildings, Woods Canyon recommends six as eligible for National Register and State Register inclusion and 
fifteen for listing on the Cortez LHS. The remaining five are recommended as not eligible due to a lack of 

integrity or recent changes.  
This survey provided updates to old survey data and new information about buildings south of Main Street 
and along 1st Street that will help inform the Historic Preservation Board, as well as the City of Cortez, in its 
decision-making process for developments in downtown. The City can also use this information to expand 

existing interpretive activities such as the walking tour of downtown, public education and outreach 
programs, and use this data to promote commercial and heritage tourism programs in downtown Cortez. 

Finally, the City is encouraged to continue its efforts to preserve and enhance its downtown area as a focal 
point for the community, while recognizing the unique character of Cortez’s commercial core. 

SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

CITY OF CORTEZ 
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• We would like to recognize the efforts of the Cortez Historic Preservation Board and the Montezuma County Historical 
Society, particularly Dr. Patricia Lacey and Historian June Head for their research into these properties, their extensive 
knowledge of the history of Cortez and its people which they made available for these studies 

• We would also like to recognize History Colorado and the City of Cortez for their support in making this grant possible   
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